1982

State of Utah v. Francis Eugene Knill : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Francis Eugene Knill was charged in criminal proceedings by the State of Utah with one count of Theft in violation of Section 76-6-604, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On October 15, 1981, Francis Eugene Knill was found guilty of one count of theft by a jury in the Seventh Judicial Court in and for Emery County, State of Utah, the Honorable Judge Boyd Bunnell presiding.

Defendant was sentenced on that same date to not less than one year nor more than fifteen years in the Utah State Prison.

(1)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-Appellant seeks relief from the sentence imposed as follows:

For an Order of this court reversing judgment and sentence imposed by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant-Defendant and his son were arrested June 25, 1981 and booked in the Emery County Detention facility. He appeared before VarLynn Peacock, Justice of the Peace, Emery County, State of Utah on June 26, 1981. Defendant was not represented by counsel but asked that counsel be appointed. Judge Peacock set bail at \$15,000.00 and set preliminary hearing for July 22, 1981.

Defendant was first aware that counsel had been appointed on July 7, 1981. Charles Taylor, the then Emery County Public Defender, was appointed to represent both Appellant and his son. Defendant appeared before Judge Peacock on July 17, 1981 and waived preliminary hearing upon assurance that if Appellant were to plead guilty to a felony, his son would not be prosecuted.

On July 28, 1981 Defendant retained private counsel, appeared for arraignment in District Court of Emery County and moved for remand to the Justice Court for preliminary

hearing. Said Motion was granted.

On August 18, 1981, no date for preliminary had been set. Defendant petitioned District Court of Emery County, Civil No. 4010 for Writ of Habeas Corpus, hearing on Petition was had on September 1, 1981, writ was issued September 9, 1981 and hearing was set for September 14, 1981. At the hearing, Boyd Bunnell, District Court Judge ruled without argument by the State, that a Writ of Habeas Corpus was not the proper procedure for raising the issue of lack of speedy trial and that a Motion to Dismiss was the appropriate means by which to raise such issue.

Preliminary hearing was had in the Eleventh Circuit Court in and for Emery County on September 10, 1981. Appellant was bound over to District Court on two counts. Appellant was arraigned October 6, 1981, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for lack of a speedy trial was denied with no argument by Prosecution and trial was set for October 15, 1981.

Appellant filed ExParte Motion to Produce and Affidavit on October 12, 1981. The State filed no response nor Affidavit. Motion was denied.

Appellant filed Motion to Suppress on October 12, 1981

with hearing set for 9:00 A.M. October 15, immediately prior to trial. The State did not file response nor did they argue against said motion. The Motion to Suppress was denied.

Appellant was tried on October 15, 1981, by jury, convicted of theft, in violation of Section 76-6-604 U.C.A. (1953) as amended, a second degree felony. Appellant was sentenced that day to serve one to fifteen years in the Utah State Penitentiary.

POINT I

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE RESULTING FROM STOP OF AUTOMOBILE WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE.

Defendant was stopped by Sgt. Jewkes, Utah Highway Patrol. At Motion to Suppress Hearing, immediately prior to trial Sgt. Jewkes testified at page 5 line 8-9 that the reason he "probably" stopped was a report on a license plate. At Trial page 50 lines 3-13 Sgt. Jewkes testified that he had it in his mind he'd probably stop the car and called in the license plate number "as a precaution." At the time he took the precaution, the only thing Defendant had done was slow down when he saw a highway patrol car.

(4)

.....(2) a policeman's stopping an automobile and detaining the driver in order to check the driver's license and the registration of the automobile constitute an unreasonable seizure under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments, except in those situations in which there is at least an articulable and reasonable suspicion that a motorist is unlicensed, or that an automobile is not registered, or that either the vehicle or an occupant is otherwise subject to seizure for violation of law, such rule against random stops and detentions, however, not precluding a state from developing methods for spot checks that involve less intrusion or that do not involve the unconstrained exercise of discretion, such as, for example, the questioning of all oncoming traffic at roadblock-type stops.¹ at 661.

The "reasonable suspicion" standard is further set forth in Section 77-7-15, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended as follows:

77-7-15. Authority of peace officer to stop and question suspect - Grounds- a peace officer may stop any person in a public place when he has a reasonable suspicion to believe he has committed or is in the act of committing or is attempting to commit a public offense and may demand his name, address and an explanation of his action. .

Mere suspicion is not sufficient to establish probable cause for a stop² despite the good intentions of an officer³.

1. State of Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 99S.Ct. 1319, 59 LEd 2d 660 (1979).

2. Mallory v. U.S., 354 US 449, 1LEd 2d 1479, 77S.Ct. 1356, (1957)

3. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 13, 85 S.Ct. 223, (1964).

Defendant was stopped on the mere suspicion of a police officer in violation of his rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States.

Defendant's Motion to Suppress evidence resulting from said stop was denied.

POINT II

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE COUNSEL IN THE EARLY STAGES OF HIS PROSECUTION CONTRIBUTING TO A DENIAL OF HIS RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

...(T)he assistance of counsel is among those constitutional rights so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error. [Citations Omitted]⁴

Defendant, in the case at bar, was incarcerated and was not represented by counsel when preliminary hearing was set for a date twenty-six days later contrary to the dictates of the Utah Code which requires a preliminary hearing be had within ten (10) days if a person in incarcerated.⁵

Counsel was appointed to represent both Defendant and his son who was similarly charged. Upon advice of counsel Defendant was encouraged to waive preliminary

4. Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 55 LEd.2d 426, 98 S.Ct. 1173 (1978).

5. U.C.A. 77-35-7

hearing and plead guilty in exchange for the dismissal of the charges against Defendant's son. Said charges were dismissed.

The Utah Supreme Court has ruled in the case of Combs v. Turner, 25 Utah 2d 397, 483 P2d 437 (1971) which involved dual representation by one attorney of a husband and wife wherein husband pleaded guilty to a felony as a part of a plea bargain and charges were dismissed against the wife. The Court held that the dual representation did not constitute denial of adequate representation.

However, the Court's attention is called to the decision of Chief Justice Traynor in the California case of People v. Chacon, 73 Cal. Rptr. 10, 447 P2d 106 (1968) wherein the Court said:

If counsel must represent conflicting interests or is ineffective because of the burdens of representing more than one defendant, the injured defendant has been denied his constitutional right to effective counsel. [Citations Omitted].

Counsel representing co-defendants cannot effectively represent the Defendant whom he encourages to waive his right to confront witnesses and to trial by jury in exchange

for the release of a co-defendant.

Here the result of joint representation was a delay in the proceedings which constituted a denial of Defendants right to a speedy trial.⁶

POINT III

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A SPEEDY TRIAL.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Utah⁷ guarantees the right to a speedy trial. Defendants trial in the Court below was held more than three and one-half months after his arrest.

Defendants first preliminary hearing was set 16 days beyond the limit allowed by the Utah Code.⁸ That date was waived as discussed at Point II supra. The matter was remanded on July 28, 1981 for preliminary hearing and the actual hearing was not had until September 10, 1981 -- two and one-half months after arrest and forty-four (44) days after remand.

Trial was set in District Court for October 15, 1981 more than the thirty day limitation set forth in U.C.A. 77-1-8(6).

Defendant was prejudiced by the delay because the

6. United States Constitution, Amendment Six.

7. Article I, Section 12.

8. U.C.A. 77-35-7

physical evidence of theft, the automobile, was released to the alleged owner on July 6, 1981⁹ and was unavailable for inspection by defense counsel when conflict in identification of said automobile arose. Had there been a timely preliminary and/or a timely appearance of appointed counsel, the automobile would have been available for inspection. The right to a speedy trial is a fundamental right.¹⁰ The purpose of that right is, among other things, to limit the possibility that delay will impair Defendants defense¹¹ as it did in this case.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY RULING THAT HABEAS CORPUS WAS AN INAPPROPRIATE PRETRIAL REMEDY AND WAS UNAVAILABLE TO DEFENDANT.

"Ordinarily the inquiry in a Habeas corpus matter is as to the legality of the detention."¹²

On August 18, 1981 Defendant petitioned the Court below for a Writ of Habeas Corpus on the grounds that his constitutional right to a speedy trial had been denied. Twenty-eight (28) days later the District Court Judge ruled that Habeas Corpus was not the proper proceeding to raise the issue. His ruling was an abuse of discretion.

9. Transcript - page 44 line 14.

10. Klopper v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213, 87S.Ct.988, 18LEd. 2d 1, (1967).

11. U.S. v. Ewell, 383 U.S. 116, 15 LEd 2d 627, 86 S.Ct. 773, (1966).

12. State v. Interest of Hales, 538 P2d 1034 (1975).

Rule 65B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

(f) Habeas Corpus. Appropriate relief by habeas corpus proceedings shall be granted whenever it appears to the proper court that any person is unjustly imprisoned or otherwise restrained of his liberty. If the person seeking relief is imprisoned in the penitentiary and asserts that in the proceedings which resulted in his conviction there was a substantial denial of his rights under the Constitution of the United States or under the Constitution of the state of Utah, or both, then the person seeking such relief shall proceed in accordance with Rule 65B(i). In all other cases, proceedings under this subdivision shall be conducted in accordance with the following provisions:

Defendant challenged the legality and constitutionality of his incarceration and was told that Habeas Corpus was not the appropriate method of complaint.

Defendant's Motion to dismiss on the same grounds was filed September 30, 1981, was heard October 6, 1981 and denied without argument by the Prosecution forty-nine (49) days after Defendants original petition for relief was filed.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ITS DENIAL OF DEFENDANTS PRETRIAL MOTION TO PRODUCE AND MOTION TO DISMISS AT TRIAL.

Upon discovery that there existed conflicting

evidence identifying the alleged stolen vehicle, Defendant on October 1981 moved for an Order for Plaintiff to produce the vehicle for inspection. Said motion was denied.

At the conclusion of the State's case Defendant moved to dismiss because of conflicting testimony regarding identification of the allegedly stolen vehicle. Said motion was denied without any argument by the State.¹³

The Utah Court has ruled in the case of State v. Hall, 105 Utah 163, 145 P2d 494, (1944) that:

Under the authorities, it is clear that the State must definitely identify the goods found in the defendant's possession as the goods which were charged to have been stolen before the jury may draw an inference of guilt based upon the proof of possession by the defendant of such goods at 496. [Citations Omitted].

The Court's refusal to Order production and refusal to dismiss for the states failure to definintely identify the vehicle along with its refusal to give Defendant's proposed jury instruction no. 3 constitutes an abuse of discretion.

The Utah Court defined "discretion" in Carmen v. Slavens, 546 P2d 601 (1976) as follows:

It is true that where the authority to perform a proposed action rests within the discretion of the court we must allow considerable latitude in which


13. Transcript pages 71-72

he may exercise his judgment. But this does not mean that the court has unrestrained power to act in an arbitrary manner. Fundamental to the concept of the rule of law is the principle that reason and justice shall prevail over the arbitrary and uncontrolled will of any one person; and that this applies to all men in every status: to courts and judges, as well as to autocrats or bureaucrats. The meaning to the term "discretion" itself imports that the action should be taken within reason and good conscience in the interest of protecting the rights of both parties and serving the ends of justice at 603 [Citations Omitted].

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully submits, based on the foregoing points and authorities that judgment entered at trial be reversed.