1982

State of Utah v. Francis Eugene Knill : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE FROM COUNSEL IN THE EARLY STAGES OF THESE PROCEEDINGS.

Appellant's original counsel, Charles W. Taylor, was appointed to represent both appellant and his son. In Point

II of his brief, appellant now claims that this dual representation caused Mr. Taylor to be an ineffective advocate.

Appellant claims that Mr. Taylor allegedly encouraged appellant to waive the preliminary hearing, plead guilty, and waive his right to confront witnesses and to trial by jury so that the charges against appellant's son would be dropped. However, these contentions are not supported in the record. Appellant did waive the preliminary hearing (R. 8); however, even in appellant's own affidavit (R. 18), he does not claim that he intended to plead guilty. There is no support in the record for appellant's claim that he waived his right to confront witnesses or to be tried by a jury. In fact, appellant received a jury trial. Also, the record does not support appellant's claim that the charges against his son were dropped at all, let alone in exchange for appellant's waiver of the preliminary hearing. Therefore, despite appellant's assertions to the contrary, the only waiver appellant made was of his statutory right to a preliminary hearing, which he later received anyway.

Although appellant retained his present counsel immediately after waiving the preliminary hearing, he first raises the issue of ineffective counsel on appeal. This Court has stated that it generally will not rule on issues raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Lee, Utah, 633 P.2d

48 (1981); State v. Hales, Utah, _____ P.2d _____ (Case No. 18083, decided July 7, 1982). In this case, appellant could have raised this issue long before even the trial stage since he had new counsel for his preliminary hearing.

In State v. McQueen, 14 Utah 2d 311, 383 P.2d 921, 922 (1963), the defendant for the first time on appeal raised the issue of unlawful search, seizure and arrest. This Court stated:

We cannot canvas any such issue on appeal here. The state had no opportunity to meet such issues, which were interjected for the first time on appeal. . . . It is obvious that to review such extraneous matter would be offensive to appellate practice and highly prejudicial to the opposition, who had no opportunity to meet it at the trial level (emphasis added).

In the present case, if appellant had properly raised this issue at trial, the state could have examined witnesses to determine whether counsel was in fact ineffective in representing both parties.

In State v. West, 2 Kan. App. 2d 297, 578 P.2d 287 (1978), two brothers were represented at trial by the same attorney. One brother's defense was intoxication, but he could not testify about his condition without implicating the other brother. Since the brothers' defenses conflicted and they made timely motions for separate attorneys, the court held that the defendants were entitled to different attorneys.

In a similar case, the Supreme Court held that the defendants were entitled to separate counsel because their defenses conflicted, the evidence was weak against one defendant, and he had objected to dual representation at trial. Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60 (1942). In both of these cases the defendants objected to dual representation, their defenses conflicted, and the problem occurred at trial. In the present case, the appellant did not object, did not show that his defense would have conflicted, and the representation occurred at the preliminary hearing stage. Also, the evidence against appellant was very strong (he was caught driving a stolen car) (T. 51, 55).

This Court, in State v. Albert, Utah, 584 P.2d 843 (1978), reasoned that when a defendant freely consented to the appointment of counsel and had time to consult with him before pleading guilty, he was not denied adequate counsel. In this case appellant freely consented to Mr. Taylor's appointment and had time to consult with him before waiving his preliminary hearing.

In addition to the fact that appellant failed to timely raise this issue by objecting to the appointment, there is nothing in the record to support the claim of ineffective counsel. Appellant has the burden of showing how his counsel was ineffective and the proof must be a demonstrable reality, not mere speculation. State v. McNicol, Utah, 554 P.2d 203

(1976). Appellant must demonstrate that dual representation caused his attorney to be less effective. State v. Tippetts, Utah, 584 P.2d 892 (1978). Apparently, appellant's counsel is merely speculating that since appellant waived the preliminary hearing and his original counsel represented both appellant and his son, the original counsel must have been ineffective. The record does not reflect any inherent conflict or prejudice to appellant's case. This Court has stated that ". . . we are not inclined to reverse a conviction on matters dehors the record." State v. Starlight Club, 17 Utah 2d 174, 406 P.2d 912 (1965).

Even if appellant waived the preliminary hearing so that the charges against his son would be dropped, this does not prove that his attorney was ineffective. In People v. Duran, 498 P.2d 937 (Colo. 1972), the defendant entered a guilty plea so that the charges against his wife would be dropped. He was concerned about the effect on his five children and the possibility of losing custody of them if his wife were convicted. The court accepted the plea because it was not a result of deceit, enhancement or coercion.

In a similar case, Combs v. Turner, 25 Utah 2d 397, 483 P.2d 437 (1971), the defendant also pled guilty (as his attorney advised) so that the charges against his wife would be dropped. This Court did not find a conflict in dual representation when the defendant entered his plea. The present case is within the scope of these cases since the

defendants in those cases were pleading guilty while in the present case the appellant merely waived a preliminary hearing. Thus, "the mere fact of multiple representation, standing alone, does not amount to a conflict of interest." People v. Romero, 189 Col. 526, 543 P.2d 56 (1975). Even if appellant did waive his preliminary hearing to help his son, this fact alone does not establish that his counsel was ineffective.

The fact that appellant waived the preliminary hearing is actually irrelevant to his claim of ineffective counsel because no plea can be given at that stage. A preliminary hearing is merely to determine whether there is sufficient evidence to hold the defendant. Crouch v. State, 24 Utah 2d 126, 467 P.2d 43 (1970). In this case, the evidence was certainly sufficient to hold appellant since he was caught "red-handed." Therefore, whether appellant waived the hearing or not, the result would have been the same--he would be bound over to district court for arraignment.

In McGuffey v. Turner, 18 Utah 2d 354, 423 P.2d 166, 167 (1967), this Court stated:

It is rather difficult to see how a guilty defendant is prejudiced by waiving a preliminary hearing when all that is entailed at the hearing is that sufficient evidence be given to the committing magistrate to cause him to believe that a crime has been committed and that there is probable cause to believe the defendant is guilty thereof (emphasis added).

Similarly, in Seibold v. Turner, 20 Utah 2d 165, 435 P.2d 289, 290 (1967), this Court stated "Under our practice the preliminary hearing is not a critical stage of criminal procedure." See also: State v. Starratt, 153 N.W.2d 311 (N.D. 1967).

This Court, in State v. Gray, Utah, 601 P.2d 918, 920 (1979), held that even if counsel was ineffective, the conviction should not be reversed unless a likelihood exists that different counsel would have caused a different result. This Court thought that the defendant did not "establish anything more than mere speculation as to prejudice because of ineffectiveness of his counsel." Appellant's contention is also only speculation, and there is no likelihood that a different attorney would have caused a different result since appellant received a hearing anyway.

This Court confronted the flaw in appellant's contention in State v. Sims, 30 Utah 2d 354, 517 P.2d 1313, 1315 (1974):

In regard to the defendant's contention that he was denied effective counsel: we are impelled to remark that it is nothing less than shameful that our law seems to have degenerated to a point where whenever an accused is convicted of a crime, the charge of incompetency of counsel is, with ever increasing frequency, leveled at capable attorneys who have given entirely adequate service, when the real difficulty was that he had a guilty client (emphasis added).

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO PRODUCE AND DISMISS SINCE THE REQUESTED EVIDENCE WAS UNNECESSARY IN THE DETERMINATION OF APPELLANT'S GUILT.

In Point V of his brief, appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion by denying appellant's Motion to Produce. Appellant contends that he needed to examine the stolen automobile because, allegedly, a conflict existed in identification of the vehicle. A defendant has no right to examine the state's evidence unless required by statute. Mendelsohn v. People, 353 P.2d 587 (Colo. 1960). Indeed, in this case the car was not to be introduced as evidence at all by the state. The Supreme Court has stated "There is no general right to discovery in a criminal case. . . ." Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545 (1977).

In Utah, the Legislature has set forth discovery rules. Utah Code Ann., § 77-35-16(5) (1981 Supp.) provides that the court shall determine whether defendant is entitled to examine an item of evidence, based on defendant's showing that the evidence is needed to adequately prepare his defense. Thus, the trial court has broad discretion in granting or denying Motions to Produce. State v. Lack, 118 Utah 128, 221 P.2d 852 (1950). Appellant must show that the trial court abused this discretion by denying his motion before its ruling

will be overturned. State v. Oldham, 438 P.2d 275 (Idaho 1968); State v. Tyler, 466 P.2d 120 (Wash. 1970); State v. Lybert, 30 Utah 2d 180, 515 P.2d 441 (1973).

In an apparent attempt to show that the trial court abused its discretion here, appellant quotes a definition of discretion given in Carmens v. Slavens, Utah, 546 P.2d 601, 603 (1976). However, the case is not particularly relevant in this matter, as demonstrated by the final sentence in the paragraph appellant quotes, which appellant failed to include:

It has always been the policy of our law to resolve doubts in favor of permitting parties to have their day in court on the merits of a controversy (emphasis added).

This Court was referring to the trial court's failure to allow the defendant to have a trial, a much more serious matter than the denial of a Motion to Produce.

This Court has defined the meaning of "abuse of discretion" in many cases. The judge's actions clearly must be inherently unfair so that no reasonable person could adopt the court's view. State v. Gerrard, Utah, 584 P.2d 885 (1978). It must be clear that the court's decision likely resulted in an injustice to the defendant. State v. Danker, Utah, 599 P.2d 518 (1979). The trial court's determination must clearly appear to be error. State v. Eastmond, 28 Utah 2d 129, 499 P.2d 276 (1972). Respondent contends that appellant has failed to show an abuse of discretion in this case.

There are several ways to analyze whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying appellant's Motion to Produce. First, would the evidence have created a reasonable doubt of appellant's guilt. State v. Wilder, 22 Ariz. App. 541, 529 P.2d 253 (1974). In this case, appellant was apprehended when driving a stolen vehicle. The license plates were stolen from another vehicle belonging to one of appellant's relatives (T. 64, 65). While it is true the serial number from the car door did not match the registration, appellant knew that this alleged conflict existed without examining the car. He was able to introduce a police officer's testimony at trial affirming that the serial number on the door did not match the registration. Thus, he was able to use any identification conflict to his advantage at trial to attempt to create reasonable doubt of his guilt. It was unnecessary for appellant to actually examine the car to bolster his apparent but unstated claim that the car was not stolen. The alleged conflict was easily explainable because the car doors had been replaced; therefore the serial number did not match. In fact, appellant surely realized this since the copy of the title for the serial number from the car door was registered "inactive" (R. 27). An examination of the car would have created no more doubt than the testimony of the conflict given by an uninterested witness did, and thus was unnecessary.

The second test is whether it was prejudicial or unfair to appellant to deny his motion. In State v. Stewart, Utah, 544 P.2d 477 (1975), the police erased a tape made during a drug sale. Since the defendant denied that there was a sale, the fact the tape was erased was immaterial. It was not vital to the issue of guilt. In this case, appellant made no claim at trial that the car was not stolen, or was not owned by Eric Wichgram. In fact, he has made no showing at all that the evidence was vital to the issue of guilt or material to his case. State v. White, 98 Idaho 781, 572 P.2d 884 (1977). The owner of the car identified it extensively at trial through the custom work he performed on it such as mechanical repairs, replacing the seats and doors, and installing a stereo system. There was no real doubt that he was the owner and that appellant had stolen the automobile, thus it was not prejudicial to appellant's case to deny the motion.

The third test requires appellant to establish that the evidence would be favorable to him. State v. Ward, 98 Idaho 571, 569 P.2d 916 (1977); State v. Oliverrez, 34 Or. App. 417, 578 P.2d 502 (1978). In State v. Koennecke, 545 P.2d 127 (Or. 1976), defendant was charged with attempted murder for firing a gun at a police officer. His defense was that a second officer at the scene was the person firing at the officer. The court denied his motion for discovery of the

officer's guns because the defendant failed to show that testing of the revolvers would disclose any favorable evidence. In this case, too, appellant has failed to show how an examination of the car would produce evidence favorable to him. Also, any potential probative value in examining the car was far outweighed by the burden of producing the car, then in Maryland.

Appellant further contends that the trial court erred in not granting appellant's Motion to Dismiss. Again, appellant is relying on the fact that the serial number on the car door did not match the registration. Respondent contends that appellant's Motion to Dismiss was properly denied.

Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-404 (1953), as amended, states:

A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises unauthorized control over the property of another with a purpose to deprive him thereof.

In this case, the state proved the requisite elements of theft. Appellant cites State v. Hall, 105 Utah 162, 145 P.2d 494 (1944), in which this Court states that the goods found in defendant's possession must be identified as the goods stolen. In that case, which involved the theft of some cases of spark plugs, the state had failed to show that the spark plugs in defendant's possession were the ones which were stolen. In

the present case, the state did prove that the car in defendant's possession was "the property of another" and was stolen. The state proved this through the registration and insurance cards found in the vehicle, the owner's extensive testimony, photographs of the vehicle, and the fact that appellant did not claim to own the car at trial. It was not necessary that the state actually prove who owned the car. In State v. Simmons, Utah, 573 P.2d 341, 343 (1977), this Court remarked that the Utah theft statute:

does not require the state to conclusively prove who owned the property in question, only that the accused obtained or exercised unauthorized control over the property of another.

Ownership proof is simply not an element that the state must prove. The trial court merely left the alleged weakness in identification evidence to the jury to be a factor in creating any possible reasonable doubt. State v. Buckley, 557 P.2d 283 (Montana 1976).

Further, appellant has not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain his conviction. He did not present any defense. Thus it is difficult to see how an examination of the car would have aided in his case. State v. Ambrose, Utah, No. 16148, decided February 7, 1980 (unreported).

Finally, appellant claims that his proposed jury instruction number 3 should have been given; however, appellant failed to include it in the record designated on appeal, as required by Rule 76(a)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In Watkins v. Simonds, 14 Utah 2d 406, 385 P.2d 154 (1963), this Court held that when the record is devoid of evidence, it is assumed that the court below found a sufficient basis to support and justify its findings. Thus, it can be assumed the trial court correctly refused to give appellant's requested jury instruction.

POINT III

APPELLANT RECEIVED A SPEEDY TRIAL AND
PRELIMINARY HEARING WITHIN THE STATUTORY
REQUIREMENT.

In Point III of his brief, appellant contends he did not receive a speedy trial, as required by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Klopper v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213 (1967). However, the Supreme Court has not set a specific time limit in determining when a defendant has not had a speedy trial. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972). The Utah Legislature, in Utah Code Ann., § 77-1-6(h), has set a time limit requiring that trials must be held within thirty days after arraignment "if the business of the court permits."

In this particular case, appellant was arrested on June 25, 1981. His trial was held on October 10, 1981. Appellant waived his original preliminary hearing in Justice of the Peace Court on July 17 (R. 1). At his arraignment in District Court on July 28, appellant requested that the case be remanded to Justice of the Peace Court for a preliminary hearing (R. 18). Again, at appellant's request, the case was transferred from the Justice of the Peace Court to the Circuit Court for preliminary hearing, which was held within ten days after transfer thereto (R. 5). Appellant also filed a Motion to Dismiss, in part alleging that he had not received a speedy trial. The motion was denied on October 6, 1981; appellant's arraignment was held the same day. Appellant's trial date was October 15, 1981, nine days after his arraignment and, contrary to appellant's contention, well within the thirty-day limit set by statute.

Any pre-trial delay in this case was clearly caused by appellant and was for his benefit. He initially waived his preliminary hearing and requested that the case be remanded for a preliminary hearing; he also requested the transfer to Circuit Court. The delay occasioned by the transfers was caused in an effort to accommodate appellant and cannot be included in computing the time before trial. State v. Velasquez, Utah, 641 P.2d 115 (1982); State v. Baker, Utah, Case No. 17288, decided March 3, 1982 (unreported); Taggard v.

State, 500 P.2d 238 (Alaska 1972); State v. English, 594 P.2d 1069 (Hawaii 1978); Woods v. State, 588 P.2d 1030 (Nevada 1979); and State v. Cuzze, 225 Kan. 274, 589 P.2d 626 (1979). Therefore, the time period between remanding the case for preliminary hearing and the arraignment was not an unreasonable delay in the proceedings.

Even the balancing test set forth by the Supreme Court in Barker, supra, adopted by this Court in State v. Hafen, Utah, 593 P.2d 538 (1979), yields the same result. That test includes four factors: the length of the delay, the reason therefor, whether defendant asserted his right to a speedy trial, and whether the defendant was prejudiced by the delay. In Barker, the length of the delay was 5 years; in Hafen it was almost 8 months. In those cases, as the present one (3-1/2 months' delay), the length of delay was not conclusively too long. The reason for the delay, as mentioned above, was for appellant's benefit and at his request. Appellant did assert his right to a speedy trial--and received one within the statutory thirty days; and appellant was not prejudiced. He was effectively represented by counsel, as discussed in Point I. Also, appellant had no real need to examine the stolen automobile, as discussed in Point II, and thus the delay did not prejudice him in this respect.

A factor this Court considers is whether the delay was intentionally caused by the prosecutor. If the defendant

was not prejudiced and the delay was unintentional, this Court has found that the defendant received a speedy trial. State v. Rasmussen, 18 Utah 2d 201, 418 P.2d 134 (1966); State v. Archuletta, Utah, 577 P.2d 547 (1978). In this case, appellant does not contend, and the record does not reflect any intentional delay caused by the state.

This Court, in Rasmussen, supra, stated that the 30-day extension is not mandatory. Instead, each case should be examined in light of its facts. Since appellant received his trial within thirty days after arraignment, was not prejudiced by any delay, caused the delay himself, and any delay was unintentional, he was not denied a speedy trial.

The same analysis applies to appellant's allegation that he was not given a preliminary hearing until after the 10-day limit of Utah Code Ann., § 77-35-7(c). As shown above, after appellant's requested transfer of the case to the Circuit Court, the preliminary hearing was held within the ten-day limit (R. 5). Since all the delay up to that point was caused by the appellant, he cannot be heard to complain on appeal that he was prejudiced by the delay.

Of course, there is no constitutional right to a "speedy preliminary hearing," but merely a statutory entitlement to such a hearing, if not waived, within ten days of the initial appearance before a committing magistrate if

the defendant is in custody. Where this is the case, the appellant must clearly establish prejudice in order to prevail on his claim. Cf. Crowe v. State, Utah, ____ P.2d ____ (Case No. 18227, decided May 25, 1982). In this case, appellant has not met this burden and thus his conviction should be affirmed.

POINT IV

APPELLANT'S AUTOMOBILE WAS PROPERLY STOPPED SINCE THE LICENSE PLATES WERE STOLEN.

In Point I of his brief, appellant claims that the police officer stopped his car on mere suspicion, which violated his constitutional rights. Appellant cites Mallory v. United States, 354 U.S. 449 (1957) and Beck v. Ohio, 379 U.S. 89 (1964) for the proposition that "mere suspicion is not sufficient to establish probable cause for a stop despite the good intentions of an office." However, appellant's application of those cases is incorrect. Both Mallory, supra, and Beck, supra, refer to good faith and probable cause when arresting someone, not merely stopping someone.

The Supreme Court, in Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 (1979), set guidelines for police officers when stopping automobiles. The officer must have an "articulate and reasonable suspicion" that a violation of law exists. In that

case, the officer did not suspect the driver of violating any law. He stopped the car only because he was not busy at the time. The Court felt that the officer violated the driver's rights when he stopped the automobile without having an articulate and reasonable suspicion that the driver had broken a law.

Utah Code Ann., § 77-7-15 also requires an officer to have a reasonable suspicion that a person has committed or will commit an offense before stopping him. The Utah Supreme Court, in State v. Torres, 29 Utah 2d 269, 508 P.2d 534, 536 (1973), stated a test for reasonableness:

. . . that is, whether fair-minded persons, knowing the facts, and taking into consideration not only the rights of the individuals involved in the inquiry or search, but also the broader interests of the public to be protected from crime and criminals, would regard the conduct of the officers as being unreasonable.

In that case, police officers received a radio report that a robbery had just occurred. Minutes later, the police stopped two men in a car. The court thought the stop was reasonable since the car was in the area where the robbery occurred, although the report did not contain a description of any automobile.

The courts have held that police stops are reasonable in many situations: when defendants appeared to be casing a shop, Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); when police

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